IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA
WALTER	LEE	BROWN,						JUL 1 1987
		Appella	nt,					CLERK, SUPREME COURT
v.						CASE	NO.	By 69,623 Deputy Clerk

1

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAULA S. SAUNDERS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 308846

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, WALTER BROWN, along with co-defendant Robert Roundtree, were the defendants in the trial court. Brown will be referred to in this brief as appellant or by his proper name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution and will be referred to herein as the state.

The record on appeal, consisting of five volumes of pleadings sequentially numbered at the bottom of each page, will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis. The transcript of proceedings below is contained in twenty-eight volumes, sequentially numbered at the top of each page, and will be referred to as "T" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis. The supplemental record on appeal will be referred to as "SR."

-1-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 1, 1985, an information was filed charging Walter Brown and co-defendant Robert Roundtree with the second degree murder of Francis Sheldon Bowden on October 10, 1985 (R 9). Subsequently, on November 8, 1985, the Grand Jurors of Duval County indicted appellant and Mr. Roundtree for first degree murder (R 28-30), and the state nol prossed the information (T 2).

Appellant was arraigned on the charge on November 12, 1985. He was also arraigned on that date on charges on first degree murder in Case No. 85-11306; armed robbery, armed kidnapping and use of a firearm during the commission of a felony in Case No. 85-11117; and armed robbery, aggravated assault and use of a firearm during the commission of a felony in Case No. 85-11118 (T 2-3).1

Prior to trial appellant filed motions to suppress physical evidence and statements to the police (R 97-98, 261-263). After a hearing on August 21, 1986, the motions were denied by written order (R 513, 514; T 136-173, 317). The court also heard Brown's and Roundtree's motions to sever, which were based on the conflicting statements of the two co-defendants. Brown's attorney noted that in Case No. 85-11118, the court deleted portions of Roundtree's confession which placed an increased amount of guilt on appellant. He argued that the statements with respect to the Bowden murder were fundamentally different in that Roundtree

-2~

lAppellant was tried in Circuit Court Case No. **85-11118** prior to the trial of the instant cause and was convicted of armed robbery. That conviction is currently pending on appeal in the First District Court of Appeal, Case No. BO-301.

admitted shooting Mr. Davis but denied shooting Mr. Bowden, whereas Brown denied both killings. He argued that the confessions were not interlocking, regardless of any other similarities in the statements, and the differences were particularly significant in a capital case where intent to kill was an issue. As an alternative to severance, counsel suggested that those portions of Roundtree's statements which placed the blame on Mr. Brown be deleted. Counsel for Roundtree found that alternative totally unworkable and unfair and proposed that the offensive portions of Mr. Brown's statements be deleted. Roundtree's attorney argued that the statements were antagonistic and conflicting and that the inconsistencies were not minor. The state responded that the statements were interlocking on 35 salient facts and urged the court to deny the motions to sever and admit the statements without any deletions. After hearing the arguments of counsel, the court denied Brown's motion to sever. Roundtree's motion to sever was also denied (R 122-123, 124-126, 127-170, 172-209, 211-259, 512; T 230-260).

The state's Notice of Similar Fact and Collateral Crime Evidence (R 120-121) and appellant's motion in limine (R 275-278) were argued on August 22. The state sought to introduce evidence relating to (1) the robbery and kidnapping of Samuel Edwards on September 5, 1985; (2) the theft of a 1977 Dodge Aspen between September 22-23, 1985; (3) the murder of Robert Davis on the same dates; (4) the theft of Mr. Davis' 1984 Chevrolet Monte Carlo; (5) the burglary of Francis Bowden's apartment on October 11, 1985; (6) the aggravated assault and attempted kidnapping of Marvin Hazelton on October 10, 1985, and (7) the defendants' use of Mr. Bowden's credit card on October 10, 1985. After hearing arguments from the state and counsel for defendants Brown and Roundtree, the court

-3-

granted the motion in limine as to the incident involving Samuel Edwards and the use of Mr. Bowden's credit card, and denied the motion in all other respects (R 516; T 321-358).

Mr. Brown and Mr. Roundtree were tried jointly by jury on September 8- 12, 1986. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found both defendants guilty of first degree murder as charged (R 741; T 2009). Appellant's motion for new trial, filed September 17, 1986, was heard and denied on September 24, 1986 (R 744-746, 748; T 2022-2027).

Prior to the advisory penalty hearing on September 25, 1986, appellant renewed his motion to sever and filed a motion to impanel a new penalty phase jury, which were denied (R 749-751, 752; T 2028-2042). Appellant also filed a notice of waiving reliance on the mitigating circumstance under Section 921.141 (6)(a) and motion in limine, which motion was granted (R 757, 758; T 2067-2072). The court granted in part and denied in part appellant's motion in limine regarding the aggravating circumstances under Sections 921.141 (5)(a, h, and i)(R 753-755, 756; T 2043-2067).

Appellant's motion for severance was again renewed and denied prior to the reception of evidence at the penalty phase (T 2211). Following the testimony, the jury recommended death sentences for both Walter Brown and Robert Roundtree (R 811; T 2523).

Following the denial of appellant's motion for a new sentencing hearing (R 812-814, 828; T 2533), the trial court sentenced appellant to death, finding six aggravating factors and no mitigating factors (R 829-854; T 2553-2562).

Notice of appeal was timely filed (R 860), and the Public Defender for the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to handle the appeal.

-4-

A. Trial

Jury selection commenced on September 8, 1986. During the voir dire, the prosecutor exercised peremptory challenges to excuse ten black prospective jurors: Nathan Barnes (T540)), Louise Grey (T541), Theresa Baldwin (T541), Terrie Boykins (T546), Michael Campbell (T548), Abram Williams (T659), Timothy Williams (T 662), Keith Gallman (T859), Ella Tillman (T 863), and Martha Robinson (T966). Appellant's repeated objections and motions to strike the venire on the ground that the state's peremptory challenges were racially motivated were denied by the court after requiring the state to give reasons for its peremptory challenges (T 541-549, 659-660, 662, 859-862, 863-870, 966-968). The trial court also denied appellant's request for an additional challenge to backstrike a seated juror (T 973-974).

In his opening statement to the jury, counsel for Robert Roundtree told the jury that appellant "is an accomplished car thief" (T1024). Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial on the grounds that it improperly placed appellant's character in issue and implied criminal conduct which was not admissible and not part of the state's submission of similar fact evidence. The court denied appellant's motion for mistrial but instructed the jury to disregard counsel's argument (T1024-1029).

The first state witness was Henry Bowman, a deacon at the Mount Zion Missionary Baptist Church on San Diego Road in Jacksonville. Mr. Bowman discovered the body of Francis Sheldon Bowden behind the church on the afternoon of October 12, 1986 (T 1040-1042, 1045, 1411). The church was under construction and the

-5-

area around it was overgrown with weeds. The church sits about 75 to 100 feet from the road, and the body was found approximately 250 feet from the road. Douglas Anderson School is three blocks from the church, but it is not visible from the back of the church because of the woods (T1044-1047).

An evidence technician arrived at the church at 2:50 p.m. on October 12. He secured the area and photographed the crime scene. Photographs and a diagram of the area were admitted into evidence (T1049-1057, 1087-1094).

Lois McMahon, the victim's fiance, last saw Francis Bowden at 10:00 p.m. on October 9, 1985. They planned to meet the next morning at 8:00 a.m. to take a trip. At 6:45 a.m. on October 10, Mr. Bowden called Ms. McMahon to confirm their date. When Bowden failed to arrive at the appointed time and place, Ms. McMahon called his apartment and received no answer. She then contacted the apartment manager, Will King, to check Mr. Bowden's apartment. When King entered the apartment, the lights and TV were on and Mr. Bowden's wallet and credit cards were on the dresser, but Mr. Bowden was not there, and his car was not in the parking lot. King called the police at Ms. McMahon's request (T1098-1103, 1178-1179).

Ms. McMahon went to her fiance's apartment. She found his clothes packed on the bed ready for the trip; his credit cards were strewn over the dresser. Nothing else was amiss in the apartment (T1103-1104).

At 6:15 a.m. on October 10, 1985, James Coile left his apartment at the University Square Apartments and returned in his car 45 minutes later. Upon returning he saw a smaller gray or off-white late model car stop in the apartment driveway; the

-б-

passenger got out and rushed across the parking area. Coile went back to the parking space he had left at 6:15, but the spot was occupied by a maroon car. A young black male with a muscular build was trying to unlock the car. There were no other blacks in the area, and Coile thought it was unusual for someone to temporarily park a car in that spot so early in the morning. He noted the license number of the maroon car and then watched it leave the parking lot and go west on Cruz Street, followed by the smaller gray car. He later gave the license number to Will King and the police (T1112-1121).

That night Mr. Coile looked out of his window and saw heads bob near the street. He was concerned that a burglary was taking place in Mr. Bowden's apartment across the way, so he sat watching the apartment entrance. He called Will King when he saw a man rush into the apartment. All the lights were on in Mr. Bowden's apartment. Coile later saw someone wearing a raincoat exit the apartment. It appeared that there was something in the raincoat. When the police arrived, Mr. Coile went outside and saw the maroon car bearing license number 775 BGL. He identified photographs of the car and license plate and the photos were admitted into evidence without objection (T 1121-1128).

Officer Reginald Richardson was dispatched to Mr. Bowden's apartment at 2:30 a.m. on October 11, 1985. The door was ajar and the apartment was in disarray. All the lights were on. No one was inside. There were two cars in the parking lot, a Toyota and a 1984 Monte Carlo, with a television set on the ground between them. Richardson called for an evidence technician and impounded the cars (T1207-1213). The evidence technician, J. T. Royal, arrived at the apartment at 3:00 a.m. He photographed the apartment, the two

-7-

cars in the parking lot and the television. He seized a .22 rifle found on the coffee table in the apartment and nine rounds of ammunition. There were two empty gun cases in the hall and shotgun shells in the dresser and on the bed. One shotgun was found outside on the grass, and a shotgun, raincoat and belt were found in a pile of trash at the bottom of the stairs. Officer Royal testified that there were no signs of forced entry into the apartment (T1141- 1154).

Leslie Kirkendall, Francis Bowden's daughter, went to her father's apartment at noon on October 10, 1985. His car was not there, but there were lights on in the apartment and Ms. Kirkendall heard the television through the door. She banged on the door and yelled for her father, but received no answer. She called Will King and returned to the apartment at 2:00 p.m. Inside she found clothes on the bed as if her father was packing; the TV and fan were on, and there were credit cards spread across the bedroom dresser. After the police were notified, everything was turned off and the apartment was locked (T 1160-1164). Ms. Kirkendall returned to her father's apartment the following morning and found a different condition from the day before; the stereo was disassembled on the floor, the dresser was in disarray and things were thrown on the bed, and there was a rifle on the table which she had never seen The witness identified her father's briefcase and a can before. of antifreeze in a photograph of the trunk of Mr. Bowden's car (T 1165-1170). On cross-examination, Ms. Kirkendall stated that she did not recognize a pair of gray shoes which were also in the trunk (T 1171).

Will King, the resident manager of University Square Apartments, testified that on the morning of October 10, 1985, at

-8-

approximately 6:30 or 6:45 a.m., he saw a red Monte Carlo with two black males park outside Mr. Bowden's apartment. King thought it unusual since no blacks lived in the apartment complex and it was so early in the morning. King testified that he was familiar with all the occupants and their vehicles, and he had never seen the Monte Carlo before (T 1174-1178). After Ms. McMahon's phone call, King went into the parking area; Mr. Bowden's car was missing. That night King made his rounds of the apartment complex at 11:00 p.m. He looked for Mr. Bowden's car, but he did not see it (T 1178-1182).

At 2:30 a.m. King received a call from Mr. Coile, summoned the police, got a gun and went outside. He saw a young black male put a television down beside a red Monte Carlo. The youth fled when he saw King. A minute later King heard the sounds of persons going down the steps and running behind the apartments. King recognized the license number on the Monte Carlo that Coile had given him the previous morning. Mr. Bowden's Toyota was parked next to it (T 1183-1184, 1195-1196).

At 6:00 a.m. King was returning to his apartment after checking to see if the Bowden apartment was locked when he saw a young black male walk past his door. The manager thought he recognized the man from the previous morning as the passenger of the Monte Carlo and held him at gunpoint until Officer Richardson arrived and arrested him. Mr. King identified Walter Brown as the man he saw on October 10 and detained on the morning of October 11 (T 1197-1202, 1214-1215).

Over appellant's objection, Officer Richardson testified tha he advised appellant of his rights and Mr. Brown told him that he was at the apartment complex to pick up a car for a friend. Mr.

-9-

Brown was holding a foreign car key. The officer took the key and drove appellant to Abe's Wrecker where the Toyota was impounded, and established that the car key fit Mr. Bowden's automobile (T 1215-1219).

The next state witness was homicide detective Anthony Hickson (T 123-1234). Prior to his testimony, the court overruled defense counsels' objections to the admission of collateral crime evidence and appellant's renewed motion to sever and instructed the jury on the limited purpose of the collateral crime evidence (T 1235-1239).

Detective Hickson testified that on the morning of September 23, 1985, a 1977 green Dodge Aspen was discovered in a grassy area off North Liberty Street adjacent to a cemetery. The keys were in the ignition and the radio was playing loudly. A body was in the trunk. The victim had sustained one gunshot wound to the left side of the face (T1239-1244).

On October 2, 1985, Hickson interviewed Walter Brown at the Sheriff's office. Over appellant's objections (T1247-1249), Hickson testified that appellant denied any knowledge of the theft of the Dodge Aspen or murder of Robert Davis (T1250).

Robert Roundtree was arrested on October 14, 1985 (T1227-1230). Detective Hickson interviewed Roundtree that day (T1266). The court denied Roundtree's motion to suppress his statements and appellant's renewed motion to sever but agreed to give appellant's requested instruction at the conclusion of the statements (T 1269-1271). Hickson then testified that he advised Roundtree of his rights and Roundtree admitted that he and Walter Brown, whom he called Wayne, stole the Dodge Aspen on the morning of September 22. The following day they picked up a man on Pearl Street, robbed him, put him in the trunk, drove to Liberty Street and killed him.

-10-

Appellant was driving the car and told Robert to go to the trunk and shoot the man. Roundtree said he did not want to shoot the man, but he opened the trunk and fired one shot while standing approximately five feet from the body (T1272-1276).

Roundtree further confessed that they stole the man's Monte Carlo and spray painted black spots on it to alter the car's appearance. They drove the vehicle for two or three weeks when they started looking for another automobile. Sometime in early October, they attempted to rob and kidnap a man in the Albertson's Shopping Center, but a police car came by and the man ran. They immediately drove into an apartment complex behind the Albertson's and saw an older white male cleaning out his car. Another individual came out of an apartment and Brown and Roundtree pretended to work on their car until the individual left. They then approached the older man with a gun and made him get in the The man said he had money upstairs in his apartment. One of car. them took the man's keys and went to the apartment with the man at gunpoint. The man was then put in the trunk of the Monte Carlo. They were leaving the apartment complex when Brown said he lost the wallet or dropped his identification and they returned to the complex, but did not find it. When they left the second time, they took the man behind a church on San Diego Road. According to Roundtree's statement, Roundtree was driving the man's Toyota and Brown drove the Monte Carlo with the victim in the trunk. Brown told Roundtree to park down the street away from the church, while he drove behind the church. Roundtree heard shots and then Brown returned to the car. They left in the Toyota but later retrieved the Monte Carlo from behind the church and continued driving both That night they agreed to go back to the man's apartment cars.

-11-

with a young black male, Amp, who was their look-out. They panicked when they thought someone had seen them and ran. They dropped weapons as they fled the apartment T 1277-1278, 1281-1286).

On cross-examination, Hickson recalled Roundtree's statement that he [Roundtree] was in the Monte Carlo and Brown was outside when they approached the man in the Albertson's parking lot. Brown had a pistol and Roundtree had a .22 automatic rifle, the same weapon used to shoot Mr. Bowden (T1294). With regard to the Davis shooting, Mr. Roundtree never indicated that Walter Brown forced him or ordered him to do it, nor did he ever indicate that he was afraid of Mr. Brown (T1296-1297).

On redirect examination, Hickson stated that Roundtree told him that after they put the man in the trunk of the Monte Carlo, he was driving the other vehicle and Brown told him to go back because the man might still have his identification and tell the police who they were. The man was still alive in the trunk of the car (T 1305-1307).

Following this testimony, the court instructed the jury that the statements of Robert Roundtree could be considered as evidence against Mr. Roundtree but could not be considered in determining the guilt of Walter Brown (T1309-1310).

Roundtree agreed to give Detective Hickson a recorded statement (T1288-1293), and the transcribed statement was read to the jury (T1328-1373). In that statement Roundtree said it was appellant's idea to steal the Dodge Aspen and Brown gave Roundtree the .22 automatic rifle and told him what to do (R 131-132); Brown didn't like that car and they went to the Pearl Plaza looking for another vehicle (R 134-135); Brown pulled a gun

-12-

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