IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALTER LEE BROWN,

CCT 5 1987

Annella

Case No. **69**, **6**

BAS PAREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

V.

Respondent

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF OF THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRADFORD L. THOMAS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA (904) 488-0600

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALTER LEE BROWN,

Petitioner,

v.

E 🗥

Case No. 69,623

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

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

Vital role in the criminal justice system." Richardson, 95 L.Ed.2d at 187. Furthermore, the brief comment at issue here was obviously harmless, as the state produced substantial evidence that appellant murdered Francis Bowden. See Rogers V. State, 12 F.L.W. 368 (Fla. July 17, 1987). The jury did not recommend executing appellant because the co-defendant's lawyer called appellant a car thief. See Greer V. Miller, 483 U.S. ____, 97 L.Ed.2d 618, 107 S.Ct. ____ (1987). Appellant has failed to demonstrate how the trial court abused its discretion in providing curative instructions to the jury to disregard the remark, See Darden v. State, 329 So.2d 287, 291 (Fla. 1976), cert. dismissed, 430 U.S. 704 (1977). This Court should affirm the trial court's ruling.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DIS-CRETION IN JOINING APPELLANT'S WITH HIS CO-DEFENDANT AS THEIR STATE-MENTS WERE NOT INTRODUCED AS SUBSTAN-TIVE EVIDENCE AGAINST EACH OTHER, AND JOINT TRIALS SERVE THE INTERESTS OF JUSTICE BY ENSURING ACCURATE VERDICTS CONSERVING JUDICIAL RESOURCES; ALTERNATIVELY, ANY ERROR WAS HARM-(Appellant's Issues III and IV LESS. restated).

The United States Supreme Court in <u>Richardson v. Marsh</u>, 481 U.S. ____, 95 L.Ed.2d 176, 109 S.Ct. ____ (1987) recognized:

Joint trials generally serve the interests of justice by avoiding inconsistent verdicts and enabling more accurate assessment of relative culpability-advantages which some time operate to the defendant's benefit.

Even apart from the tactical considerations, joint trials generally serve the interests of justice by avoiding the scandal and inequity of inconsistent verdicts.

The Court earlier explained:

It would impair both the efficiency and the fairness of the criminal justice system to require, in. . . cases of joint crimes where incriminating statements exist, that prosecutors bring separate proceedings, presenting the same evidence again and again, requiring victims and witnesses repeat the inconvenience (and sometimes trauma) of testifying, and randomly favoring the last-tried defendants who have the advantage of knowing the prosecution's case beforehand.

95 L.Ed.2d at 187. Although Richardson involved redacted confessions, the court's reasoning applies where the state here prosecuted each defendant under alternate theories of homicide. Under <u>Richardson</u>, the trial court here properly admitted each codefendant's statement. However, the court in <u>Richardson</u> also strongly endorses the states use of joint trials, regardless of whether Brown's statement was properly admitted here.

Florida, joint-trials are permissable, COdefendant's admitted confession is harmless where his own confession demonstrates guilt of the charged crime. Puatti v. <u>State</u>, 495 So.2d 128, 131 (Fla. 1986); Whitfield v. State, 479 So.2d 128 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Damon v. State, 397 So.2d 1224 (Fla, 3d DCA 1981). See also Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So.2d 927 (Fla. 1986) (Proper for trial court to conduct joint penalty proceeding where joint trial properly conducted). In Damon V. State, 397 So.2d at 1226, the court addressed the exact same situation presented here: The defendant's own confession "in and of itself showed him to be quilty of felony-murder." stated the only reason Damon was not so convicted "can only be ascribed either to a misunderstanding of the felony-murder instructions or to a jury pardon." <u>Id</u>. at fn. five. Although the court relied on Parker v. Randolph, 442 U.S. 62 (1979) plurality, expressly recognized the "non-testifying co-defendant's confession is harmless." The court found the Parker analysis and harmless error analysis to be <u>equally</u> applicable. 397 So,2d

1227. This court should also affirm either because the trial court properly joined the trial, or because any error was harmless as appellant's own confession demonstrates his guilt of felony-murder. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 409 (Fla. 1986).

A. The Trial Court Properly Admitted The Co-defendant's Confession As It Contained Sufficient Indicia Of Reliability As To Its Truthfulness As To Be Admissible Against Appellant: Alternatively, Any Error Was Harmless As Appellant's Own Confession Admitted Guild Of First-Degree Felony Murder.

In Cruz v. New York, 481 U.S. , 95 L.Ed.2d 162, 109 S.Ct. (1987), decided after the trial below, the Court held that a defendant's confession "may be considered at trial in assessing whether his co-defendant's statements are supported by sufficient indicia of reliability to be directly admissable against" the Appellant. 95 L.Ed.2d at 172; See Lee v. Illinois, 476 U.S. , 90 L.Ed.2d 514, 106 S.Ct. 2056 (1986). The Court thus held that if both defendant's confessions demonstrate the requisite signs of truthfulness, the co-defendant's statements, are directly admissable at trial against appellant. No violation the Confrontation Clause occurs if the co-defendant's of statement is reliable. Roundtree's statement was reliable as an admission of quilt of felony murder. See United States v. <u>Harris</u>, 403 U.S. 573 (1971). (T 1417, 1283).

As stated, however, appellant here conclusively confessed to guilt of felony-murder in the first-degree. See Jackson V. State, 502 So.2d 409, 412-13 (Fla. 1986); White v. State, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 463 U.S. 1229 (1981); White v. Wainwright, 809 F.2d 1478 (11th Cir. 1987), Damon v. State, 397 So.2d 1224 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Appellant's confession to felony murder is corroborated by other evidence.

Appellant admitted he accosted and robbed Francis Bowden the morning of Ocotber 10, 1985 in University Square Apartments.

(T 1477-78). Appellant obviously used a weapon, as he and Roundtree had earlier assaulted Marvin Hazelton with weapons.

(T 1473). To avoid identification, appellant and Roundtree forced the victim Francis Bowden into the car trunk. (T 1477). After leaving the victim trapped in the car trunk, appellant and Roundtree drove back to retrieve the victim, to eliminate the victim. (T 1479). Because Mr. Bowden had witnessed his own robbery, he had to be killed. Id.

Appellant thus confessed to first-degree felony-murder, as appellant was a major participant in the robbery and killing of Francis Sheldon Bowden. See Johnson v. State, 486 So.2d 657 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); White v. State, supra. The state prosecuted appellant under alternate theories of premeditated murder or felony-murder. (T 1981). See Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882 (1982); (T1980-82). The facts

of appellant's confession were corroborated by fingerprint evidence. His prints were lifted off both cars, so appellant was necessarily connected to the car carrying the victim on the death ride. (T 1475-80; 1536-39; 1584-97). Appellant possessed the victim's car keys. (T 1205, 1218). Appellant was guilty of felony first-degree murder. Section 782.04(1)(a)(2), Florida Statutes (1985).

In <u>Jackson v. State</u>, **502** So.2d **409**, this court recognized similar participation in a murder as justifying the imposition of the supreme penalty. <u>Compare Enmund v. Florida</u>, **458** U.S. **782 (1982).** This court stated:

The threshold issue is whether an Enmund assessment can be made upon the record before us. • • the next step. • • must focus on whether the defendant killed or attempted to kill or intended or contemplated that life would be taken.

Appellant knew his brother had a firearm. Indeed the two brothers' criminal plan required that one of them hold the victim at bay by gunpoint. In short, both appellant and his brother were major participants in this crime, each playing an integral role. In to ensure the sucess of their unlawful scheme. Under these facts the only reasonable conclusion that can be drawn is that appellant contemplated or intended that lethal force would be used.

502 So.2d at 412. See Cabana v. Bullock, 474 U.S. 376, 106 S.Ct. 689, 88 L.Ed.2d 704 (1986). Appellant's admitted participation in the robbery and murder was substantial, as he actively engaged

in the robbery, and helped Brown return to the crime to kill the victim. See Jackson, supra. Appellant did not indicate whatsoever that he objected to the murder, attempted to dissuade Roundtree, or attempted to physically stop him. This court should make the required finding that appellant killed, attempted to kill, or intended to kill." Bullock, 88 L.Ed.2d at 717.

Thus, although the state asserts under Cruz v. New York, that Roundtree's statement was admissible, against appellant, this court need not agree to uphold the conviction and sentence below. See Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427 (1972); Rogers v. State, 12 F.L.W. 368 (Fla. July 17, 1987). Roundtree's statement was merely cumulative as the state specifically prosecuted on alternate theories of premeditated or felony-murder. Any alleged error by the trial court was patently harmless as appellant confessed to felony-murder. See State v. Diguilio 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). There is no possibility whatsoever that the jury would have aguitted appellant absent Roundtree's statement. Appellee's confidence that the record demonstrates both defendant's quilt, absent each co-defendant's confession, is reflected by the the state's strict disregard of each co-defendant's evidence against the other in the answer briefs. The state does not rely upon Roundtree's statement in any manner to support the judgment below. As this court recently recognized, a co-defendant's admitted confession is not harmful where appellant's own confession "clearly shows him guilty of the crime with which he

is charged." <u>Puatti v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 128 (Fla. 1986). This court should affirm.

The state notes that it did not introduce appellant's codefendant's confession as substantive evidence of appellant's guilt. (R 223-39). Furthermore, unlike in Lee v. Illinois, 476 U.S. _____, 90 L.Ed.2d 514, 106 S.Ct. _____ (1986), the state here presented evidence regarding the underlying felony. The record supports the charge that appellant's confession itself renders him subject to a conviction of felony murder. In Lee the defendant Lee's statement demonstrated only self-defense, manslaughter, or second-degree murder. The state of Illnois did not prosecute under alternate theories of homicide, but rather it specifically relied upon the co-defendant's statement as the substantive evidence of appellant's guilt of first-degree murder. Thus Lee is easily distinguished.

In Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. ____, 92 L.Ed.2d, 106 S.Ct. (1986) the Supreme Court held harmless an error that violated the defendant's due process rights. Here, the trial court's admission of Roundtree's statement complied with Parker v. Randolph, 442 U.S. 62 (1979), but that decision was modified as the court adopted Justice Blackman's concurring opinon applying harmless error analysis. That analysis regarding federal constitutional errors requires this court "to consider the trial record as a whole. _ . . " United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S.

499, 509 (1983). See Hansbrough v. State, 12 F.L.W. 305 (Fla. June 26, 1987). And see Greer v. Miller, 483 U.S. ____, 97 L.Ed.2d 618, 107 S.Ct. ____ (1987). This court should reject appellant's argument and affirm the conviction. See Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. ____, 95 L.Ed.2d 127, 109 S.Ct. ____ (1987). Unlike Cruz, appellant did confess to a crime of first-degree felony-murder where Francis Bowden was murdered during appellant's commission of a robbery.

The state notes that there was sufficient evidence from appellant's confession that he was guilty of premeditated murder, See Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982). The appellant, like Breedlove, was armed when he approached the victim. Furthermore, premeditated murder may be proven by circumstantial evidence. Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911 (1975). Under either theory, appellant's statement admitted guilt, and the jury could not have decided otherwise even absent Roundtree's statement, See Harrington v. California, 395 U.S. 250 (1969). In Harrington the court expressly applied harmless error analysis where its ruling in Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968) had been violated. Here, the harmlessness of any error in admitting Roundtree's statement is evident where appellant admitted to participating in every facet of the crime.

B. During Penalty Phase, The Trial Court's Admission Of Appellant's Co-defendant's Statement Was Proper; Alternatively, Any Error Was Harmless As Appellant's Own Confession Admitted Guilt Of Felony-Murder And All Findings Regarding The Killing Of Francis Bowden Were Attributable To Appellant.

The United States Supreme Court has held that appellant's admitted participation in the killing of Francis Bowden may constitutionally render him liable for the death penalty. v. Arizona, 481 U.S. , 95 L.Ed.2d 127, 109 S.Ct. (1987). The State asserts Roundtree's statement was admissible under Cruz during the penalty phase, as it had numerous accurate details and itself constituted guilt of felony-murder, and was thus reliable as an admission against penal interest. United States v. Harris, 403 U.S. 573 (1971). However, should this court disagree, it should find the trial court's admission of the statement harmless where appellant confessed to first degree felony murder, and the trial court's determination of aggravating circumstances were properly applied to appellant. See Jackson, supra; Rogers, supra; White v. State, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1981). This court should thus reject appellant's argument as there is no reasonable possibility the jury would have recommended life imprisonment had the trial court excluded the statement or severed the penalty See Engle v. State, 12 F.L.W. 314 (Fla. June 26, 1987). Thus, the state demonstrates that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

This court's holding in Engle v. State, 438 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1983) is distinguishable as there the trial court admitted another person's confession "that was not introduced during the guilt phase" of trial. Id, at 813. Here, both co-defendant's statements were admitted during the guilt determination. Thus, in Engle, none of the analysis delineated in Parker v. Randolph, 442 U.S. 62 (1979), or Cruz v. New York, supra, was applicable. However, regardless of whether the trial court erred, such error was harmless. The United States Supreme Court has held that Confrontation Clause violations may constitute harmless error. Cruz, supra: Parker, supra. This is especially true here.

The jury heard appellant's confession to robbing Francis Bowden and returning to retrieve Mr. Bowden. (T 1471-1520). The jury heard how Mr. Bowden was shot with his arms raised and did not lose consciousness until he lay wounded on the ground and was shot twice in the head. (T 1642-70). The jury heard how the victim had been driven 3.2 miles in the trunk of a car, obviously aware of his impending fate as he already been robbed. The jury received state's evidence during the penalty phase, demonstrating appellant's previous conviction for armed robbery in another matter, (T 2214-16). However, the state presented no further evidence or exhibits during the penalty phase. All of the evidence was sufficient for a conviction of felony-murder. See O'Callaghn v. State, 429 Sq.2d 691 (Fla. 1983).

Despite all of appellant's mitigation evidence, and the state's lack of any additional testimony, except as noted, the jury voted overwhelmingly to recommend death by a 10-2 vote. The appellant's confession no doubt persuaded the jury that he deserved death.

The state specifically told the jury during closing argument that it need <u>not</u> determine who actually shot the victim.

I want to remind you of one thing the court is not going to instruct you,
..., or that ya'll have to determine,
who actually pulled the trigger ...
to ... murder Mr. Bowden.

The state did not claim that appellant actually shot (T 2420).the victim, as the state proceeded on alternate theories. Adams, The jury had more than sufficient evidence from appellant supra. himself to recommend death for the murder of Mr. Bowden. prosecutor noted that "the state has proven beyond a reasonable doubt. . . that his murder occurred while each defendant was involved in the commission of . . the robbery . . . " (T 2426). Thus the jury recommended death not on Roundtree's statement, but on appellant's, and the recommendation was sound. See Jackson v. State, 502 So.2d 409 (1987); White v. State, supra. Any error in allowing the jury to receive the co-defendant's statement was harmless as the record demonstrates beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury recommended death for appellant based on his status as a felony murderer. See White v. v. State, supra; Schneble,

supra; Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967); Rogers v.
State, 12 F.L.W. 368 (Fla. July 17, 1987). This court should
affirm.

ISSUE IV

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